HASAD

-ENVY-



SH KHALID AL-HIBSHI

TRANSLATED BY FITRAH CENTRE

Contents

Translator's Introduction	3
Chapter 1: Envy (Hasad)	4
Related Terms	5
Origin of Envy	8
Chapter 2: Causes, Ruling, and Consequences	9
Causes of Envy	9
Ruling on Envy	11
The Excused Degree of Envy, Its Opposite, and What Is Disputed	13
Chapter 3: Types and Levels of Envy	15
Types of Envy	15
Levels of Envy	15
Chapter 4: Difference Between Evil Eye and Envy	17
Chapter 5: Areas of Influence	18
Potency of Envy	18
Areas of Influence	18
Chapter 6: Symptoms of Being Affected by Envy	20
Chapter 7: Harms and Evils of Envy	23
Chapter 8: Envy Is a Natural Tendency—So Correct It	24
Chapter 9: Prevalence of Envy Among Peers and Siblings	27
Chapter 10: Advice for the Envier	31

Translator's Introduction

With the Name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful.

It is with great pleasure that Fitrah Centre presents an English translation of this important treatise, originally authored by Sheikh Khālid bin Ibrāhīm bin Muhammad al-Hibshī, which explains the phenomena of *hasad* (envy)—a subtle yet destructive disease of the heart—one that lurks beneath the surface of human interaction and corrodes both the envier and the envied. The Qur'an and Sunnah speak clearly about its danger, commanding believers to seek refuge "from the evil of the envier when he envies." Envy is not merely as a moral flaw, but a spiritual illness requiring careful diagnosis, understanding, and treatment. This book is meant more for the envier than for those who are envied, and almost all of us, at some point, may find ourselves playing the role of the envier.

Our translation approach prioritises clarity and accessibility for English-speaking readers while ensuring that the spirit and essence of the original Arabic text are preserved. While we have not adhered to a strictly literal translation, we have remained faithful to the meanings and depth of the content. Some idiomatic expressions have been adapted for better comprehension, and in some instances, headings have been introduced by the translator to help structure and break down the material for easier navigation.

This edition presents the Arabic text side by side with the English translation, allowing readers to cross-reference and benefit from both languages. While every effort has been made to ensure accuracy, any errors or suggestions for improvement can be submitted to us via email at info@fitrahcentre.com.

This book is made available free of charge. We ask Allah to bless Sheikh Khālid bin Ibrāhīm bin Muhammad al-Hibshī and his dedicated team for their efforts in compiling and producing the original work. May Allah accept it as continuous charity (*ṣadaqah jūriyah*) for them and grant them immense reward in this life and the next.

We pray that this book serves as a source of inspiration and means of relief for all who read it, in treating illnesses and relieving hardships originating from envy and evil eye.

May Allah bless and accept our deeds and make this work a means of benefit for the entire ummah.

Fitrah Centre 1446 AH | 2025 CE

Chapter 1: Envy (Hasad)

Definition

It is the desire for the removal of a blessing from its owner, regardless of what that blessing may be. It is a reprehensible trait because it is one of the characteristics of Satan, the Jews, and the wicked among creation, both in the past and the present. Additionally, it signifies discontent with what Allah Almighty has decreed.

Shaykh al-Islam Ibn Taymiyyah said in his book, *Amrād al-Qulūb* (Diseases of the Heart), "The reality is that *hasad* (envy) is the hatred and resentment towards the good condition of the *mahsūd* (one who is envied), and it is of two types:

One type is the dislike of a blessing upon someone else in an absolute sense—this is the blameworthy form of envy. If a person resents another's blessing, they experience pain and distress due to the existence of what they despise, making this a disease of the heart. They find pleasure in the removal of that blessing, even if they themselves gain no direct benefit from its loss. Their only gain is the relief from the inner pain they felt. However, this is only temporary—similar to how a sick person might feel relief from a treatment, even if the condition persists. The blessing that was removed from the envied person may return to them, or they may receive an even greater blessing. Similarly, others may also receive comparable blessings. This is why some scholars define envy as the desire for the removal of a blessing, for whoever dislikes seeing a blessing upon another naturally wishes for it to be taken away.

The second type is the dislike that someone else has a superiority [or virtue] over them and wishes to be equal to or better than them. This is also a form of envy, but it is what is commonly referred to as *ghibtah* (a form of envy without malice). The Prophet referred to it as envy in the agreed-upon hadith narrated by Ibn Mas'ūd and Ibn 'Umar (may Allah be

تعريف الحسد

هو تمني زوال النعمة عن صاحبها أيًا كانت تلك النعمة، وهو صفة ذميمة لأنه من صفات إبليس ومن صفات اليهود ومن صفات شرار الخلق قديمًا وحديثًا؛ ولأنه عدم رضا بقسمه الله عزَّ وجل.

وقال شيخ الإسلام ابن تيمية في كتابه أمراض القلوب: والتحقيق أن الحسد هو البغض والكراهة لما يراه من حسن حال المحسود وهو نوعان.

أحدهما كراهة للنعمة عليه مطلقا فهذا هو الحسد المذموم وإذا أبغض ذلك فإنه يتألم ويتأذى بوجود ما يبغضه فيكون ذلك مرضًا في قلبه ويلتذ بزوال النعمة عنه وإن لم يحصل له نفع بزوالها لكن نفعه بزوال الألم الذي كان في نفسه ولكن ذلك الألم لم يزل إلا بمباشرة منه وهو راحة وأشده كالمريض فإن تلك النعمة قد تعود على المحسود وأعظم منها وقد يحصل نظير تلك النعمة ما أنعم به على النوع ولهذا قال من قال إنه تمنى زوال النعمة فإن من كره النعمة على غيره تمنى زوالها.

والنوع الثاني أن يكره فضل ذلك الشخص عليه فيجب أن يكون مثله أو أفضل منه فهذا حسد وهو الذي سموه الغبطة وقد سماه النبي صلى الله عليه وسلم حسدًا في الحديث المتفق عليه من حديث ابن مسعود وابن عمر رضي الله عنهما قال لا حسد إلا في اثنتين رجل آتاه الله الحكمة فهو يقضي بما ويعلمها ورجل آتاه الله مالاً وسلّطه على هلكته في الحق هذا لفظ ابن مسعود ولفظ ابن عمر رجل آتاه الله القرآن فهو يقوم به آناء الليل والنهار ورجل آتاه الله مالا فهو ينفق منه.

pleased with them both). Ibn Mas'ūd's version states, "There is no envy except in two cases: a man whom Allah has granted wisdom, and he judges according to it and teaches it, and a man whom Allah has given wealth, which he spends in the cause of truth." Ibn 'Umar's version states, "A man whom Allah has given the Qur'an, and he recites it throughout the night and day, and a man whom Allah has given wealth, and he spends from it (in charity)."

Hasad (envy)—with the letter sīn pronounced with fathah more commonly than with sukūn—is a verbal noun derived from the verb hasada (to envy).

Linguistically, it refers to the envious person's (*hasid*) desire for the removal of a blessing from the one who is envied.

The technical¹ (or Islamic) definition does not deviate from its linguistic meaning.

Related Terms

Tamannī (Wishing)

Linguistically, the word is derived from *manā*, which means decree or destiny, because the one who wishes for something imagines its occurrence. The noun forms are *maniyyah* and *umniyyah* (wish or desire).

Technically, it refers to the desire for something to happen, whether it is possible or impossible.

The relationship between *tamannī* and *hasad* (envy) is that *hasad* is a type of *tamannī*, as mentioned by al-Zarkashī in *al-Manthūr*, under *hiqd* (resentment).

الحسد بفتح السين أكثر من سكونها مصدر حسد.

ومعناه في اللغة أن يتمنى الحاسد زوال نعمة المحسود.

وأما معنى الحسد في الاصطلاح فلا يخرج عن المعنى اللغوي.

الألفاظ ذات الصلة

لتمني

اللغة: مأخوذ من المنا، وهو القدر؛ لأن المتمني يقدر حصول الأمر والاسم المنية، والأمنية.

الاصطلاح: فهو طلب حصول الشيء سواء كان ممكنًا أو ممتنعًا والعلاقة بينه وبين الحسد: هي أن الحسد نوع منه كما ذكر الزركشي في المنثور. بـ الحقد.

¹ The **linguistic definition** of a term refers to its meaning in general language usage, without any specialized context. It is how the word is understood in everyday speech or its root meaning in Arabic. The **technical (or terminological) definition**, on the other hand, refers to how a term is specifically defined and understood within a particular field, such as Islamic jurisprudence or theology. This definition often builds upon the linguistic meaning but refines it for precise use in scholarly or religious discussions. Scholars differentiate between linguistic and technical meanings to ensure that concepts are properly understood within their intended context, avoiding misinterpretation.

Higd (Resentment)

Linguistically, it refers to harbouring enmity and hatred inwardly. It is derived from the verb *haqada* (following the verbal pattern of *daraba*), and in another dialect, it follows the pattern of *ta'iba*. Its plural form is *ahqād* (resentments).

Technically, it is the desire for revenge. The essence of resentment is that when anger is suppressed due to an inability to retaliate immediately, it retreats inward and becomes deeply embedded in the heart, turning into *hiqd* (resentment). It manifests as ill thoughts toward others due to enmity. Resentment is a result of anger, and *hasad* (envy) is a consequence of resentment.

It is mentioned in *al-Ihyā* that resentment pushes a person to wish for the removal of blessings from their enemy. They feel sorrow when their adversary receives a blessing and rejoice when misfortune befalls them.

Shamātah (Rejoicing at Others' Misfortunes)

Linguistically, it refers to feeling joy over the misfortunes that befall others. *Shamātah* and *hasad* (envy) are closely connected because an envious person (*hāsid*) rejoices in the misfortunes of others.

'Ayn (Evil Eye)

The term here refers to harm caused by the eye, and the one who afflicts others with it is called 'a' in (perpetrator of the evil eye).

It is said, "ta'ayyana al-rajulu al-māl" (a man afflicted wealth with the eye)" when he harms it by his gaze, and "anantu ar-rajula" (I afflicted a man with my eye), meaning, I harmed him through my gaze.

The one affected by the evil eye is called ma'yūn, while the one who casts it is called 'ā'in.

The *hāsid* (envier) and 'ā' in (perpetrator of the evil eye) share the common trait that both of their souls adapt and direct themselves toward the one they wish to harm. However, the harm of the perpetrator of the evil eye occurs when directly seeing and witnessing the object. On

الحقد

اللغة: الانطواء على العداوة والبغضاء, وهو مأخوذ من حقد من باب ضرب، وفي لغة من باب تعب وجمعه أحقاد.

الاصطلاح: طلب الانتقام وتحقيقه أن الغضب إذا لزم كظمه لعجز عن التشفي في الحال رجع إلى الباطن واحتقن فيه فصار حقدًا. وسوء الظن في القلب على الخلائق لأجل العداوة فهو ثمرة الغضب، والحسد ثمرته؛ لأن الحقد يثمر ثمانية أمور من بينها الحسد.

وبيان ذلك كما جاء في الإحياء أن الحقد يخمل صاحبه على تمني زوال النعمة عن عدوه فيغتم بالنعمة التي تصيبه ويسر بالمصيبة التي تنزل به.

الشماتة

اللغة: الفرح بما ينزل بالغير من المصائب، والشماتة والحسد يتلازمان؛ لأن الحسود يفرح بمصائب الغير.

عين

المراد بما هنا: الإصابة بالعين التي يسمى صاحبها عائنًا.

يقال: تعين الرجل المال إذا أصابه بعين، وعنت الرجل أصبته بعيني.

فأنا عائن وهو معين ومعيون.

والحاسد والعائن يشتركان في أن كلا منهما تتكيف نفسه وتتوجه نحو من تريد أذاه، إلا أن العائن تتكيف نفسه عند مقابلة العين والمعاينة والحاسد يحصل جسده في الغيبة والحضور، وأيضًا العائن قد تزال ما لا يحسده من حيوان وزرع وإن كان لا ينفك من حسد مالكه.

the other hand, the envier's harm can occur in the presence of the envied person and in their absence. Additionally, the one who casts the evil eye may afflict things that are not typically envied, such as animals or crops, even though this ultimately stems from envy toward their owner.

Ibn al-Qayyim said, "Hasad (envy) is the root cause of the evil eye. A person may inflict harm upon themselves or others unintentionally, merely by their natural disposition. This is among the worst traits found in human nature."

Ghibtah (Admiration without Malice)

It is metaphorically referred to as *hasad* (envy), but it differs in meaning. Linguistically, it signifies a state of well-being and prosperity. It is derived from the verb *ghabata* (following the verbal pattern of *daraba*), meaning to wish for the same blessing someone else has, without desiring its removal from them, due to admiration and appreciation of it.

Technically, it carries the same meaning as in language—it is the wish to have what someone else possesses without wanting them to lose it.

Striving for this is called *munāfasah* (competition). If it is in acts of obedience and righteousness, it is praiseworthy. If it is in sinful matters, it is blameworthy. If it is in permissible matters, it is neutral (allowed).

Shaykh al-Islam Ibn Taymiyyah said, "Among the diseases of the heart is envy (hasad), as some have defined it as the harm that arises from knowing about the prosperity of the wealthy. A virtuous person cannot be envious (hasūd), for virtue aligns with beautiful conduct. Some scholars have stated that envy is the desire for the removal of a blessing from the envied person, even if the envious one does not attain it themselves. This is in contrast to ghibtah (admiration), which is the wish to attain a similar blessing without wanting it to be taken away from the one who possesses it (maghbūt). The most accurate definition of envy (hasad) is that it is hatred and

قال ابن القيم الحسد أصل الإصابة بالعين. وقد تزال الرجل نفسه، وقد تزال بغير إرادته بل بطبعه وهذا أردأ ما يكون من النوع الإنساني.

الغبطة

سب تسمى حسدًا مجازًا، ومعناها في اللغة: حسن الحال، وهي اسم من غبطته غبطًا من باب ضرب إذا تمنيت مثل ما ناله من غير أن تريد زواله عنه لما أعجبك منه وعظم عندك

اصطلاحًا: فهو كمعناها في اللغة: أي أن يتمنى أن يكون له مثل ما لغيره من غير أن يزول عنه.

والحرص على هذا يسمى منافسة, فإن كان في الطاعة فهو محمود، وإن كان في المعصية فهو مذموم، وإن كان في الجائزات فهو مباح.

قال شيخ الإسلام ابن تيمية ومن أمراض القلوب الحسد كما قال بعضهم في حده إنه أذى يلحق بسبب العلم بحسن حال الأغنياء فلا يجوز أن يكون الفاضل حسودا لأن الفاضل يجرى على ما هو الجميل وقد قال طائفة من الناس إنه تمنى زوال النعمة عن المحسود وإن لم يصر للحاسد مثلها بخلاف الغبطة فإنه تمنى مثلها من غير حب زوالها عن المغبوط والتحقيق أن الحسد هو البغض والكراهة لما يراه من حسن حال المحسود.

resentment toward the good condition of the envied person."²

Origin of Envy

The origin and beginning of envy trace back to Iblīs (Satan) towards Adam (peace be upon him). He said, "Shall I prostrate to one whom You created from clay?" Thus, Iblīs envied Adam, and his descendants followed in his footsteps. His forces whisper enmity and envy into the hearts of people. The first manifestation of envy among humans occurred between the two sons of Adam (peace be upon him), leading to the first murder in history, which was caused by envy.

منشأ الحسد

منشأ الحسد وبدايته من إبليس على آدم عليه السلام قال أَاسجُدُ لِمَن خَلَقتُ طِينًا فحسده وذريته وكاد ذريته بجنده يوسوسون في صدور الناس بالحقد والحسد وبدأ بابني آدم عليه السلام وكانت أول حادثة قتل في التاريخ بسبب الحسد.

² Diseases of the Hearts, Vol. 1, p. 14.

³ Sūrah Al-Isrā': 61.

Chapter 2: Causes, Ruling, and Consequences

Causes of Envy

The root cause of envy is that human nature is inclined toward superiority over others of the same kind. When a person sees another possessing something they do not have, they desire its removal—either so they can attain it themselves and rise above others or simply so they can be equal to them.

Al-Ghazālī, in *al-Ihyā*, mentioned seven causes of envy:

First Cause: Enmity and Hatred

This is the strongest cause of envy. When someone harms or opposes another for any reason, the heart naturally harbours bitterness and anger toward them, and [overtime] resentment (hiqd) takes root in him. Resentment naturally seeks satisfaction and revenge. However, if the individual is unable to retaliate directly, they begin to hope that time and fate will bring misfortune upon their adversary, finding satisfaction their in downfall.

Second Cause: Pride

This occurs when a person finds it difficult to accept that someone else has risen above them in rank. If one of their peers attains a position of authority, knowledge, or wealth, they fear that this person will become a superior to them. The envious person cannot tolerate their superiority and refuses to endure their pride or boasting. Their objective is not necessarily to become superior themselves but rather to prevent the other from being haughty. They may accept being equal, but they cannot accept being outranked.

Third Cause: Arrogance

This occurs when a person has an innate tendency to be arrogant over others, belittling them and expecting them to serve and obey him. They anticipate that others will submit to their wishes and follow their directives. It was

أسباب الحسد

سبب الحسد أن الطباع مجبولة على حب الترفع على الجنس، فإذا رأى لغيره ما ليس له أحب أن يزول ذلك عنه إليه ليرتفع عليه أو مطلقا ليساويه.

وذكر الغزالي في الإحياء سبعة أسباب للحسد:

العداوة والبغضاء: وهذا أشد أسباب الحسد، فإن من آذاه شخص بسبب من الأسباب وخالفه في غرض بوجه من الوجوه أبغضه قلبه وغضب عليه، ورسخ في نفسه الحقد. والحقد يقتضي التشفي. والانتقام فإن عجز عن أن يتشفى بنفسه أحب أن يتشفى منه الزمان.

التعزز: وهو أن يثقل عليه أن يترفع عليه غيره، فإذا أصاب بعض أمثاله ولاية أو علما أو مالا خاف أن يتكبر عليه، وهو لا يطيق تكبره، ولا تسمح نفسه باحتمال صلفه وتفاخره عليه، وليس من غرضه أن يتكبر بل غرضه أن يدفع كبره، فإنه قد رضى بمساواته مثلاً، ولكن لا يرضى بالترفع عليه.

السبب الثالث الكبر: وهو أن يكون في طبعه أن يتكبر عليه ويستصغره ويستخدمه ويتوقع منه الانقياد له والمتابعة في أغراضه، ومن التكبر والتعزز كان حسد أكثر الكفار لرسول الله صلى الله عليه وسلم إذ قالوا: كيف يتقدم علينا غلام يتيم وكيف نطأطئ رؤوسنا له فقالوا لَوْلَا نُزَّلَ هَذَا الْقُرْآنُ عَلَى رَجُل مِنْ الْقَرْيَتَيْنِ عَظِيمٍ.

due to arrogance and self-pride that many disbelievers envied the Messenger of Allah (peace be upon him). They said how can an orphaned young man surpass us? How can we lower our heads to him? Thus, they objected, "Why was this Qur'an not sent down to a great man from one of the two cities?"

Fourth Cause: Amazement

As Allah Almighty has informed us about past nations, they said, "You are nothing but human beings like us"⁵, "Should we believe in two men like ourselves?"⁶, "And if you obey a human being like yourselves, then you will surely be losers." They were astonished that a human like them could attain the rank of prophethood, divine revelation, and closeness to Allah Almighty. This amazement led them to envy and a desire for the removal of prophethood from these individuals, out of distress that someone of their own kind was favoured over them—not due to arrogance, a desire for leadership, enmity, or any other motive.

Fifth Cause: Fear of Losing Personal Interests This type of envy occurs specifically between rivals competing for the same goal. Each person envies the other for any advantage that could help them secure their objective alone. Examples of this include the jealousy between co-wives, as they compete for the affection and attention of their husband, or the jealousy between siblings, as they compete for a special place in their parents' hearts.

Sixth Cause: Love of Leadership and Seeking Prestige

This type of envy arises from a person's desire for exclusivity in status or recognition, without necessarily aiming for a specific goal beyond it. For example, a person who wishes to be unmatched in a particular field—if they become excessively attached to praise and admiration, they may feel disturbed upon hearing about someone else excelling in the same domain, even if that person is in a distant

التعجب: كما أخبر الله تعالى عن الأمم السالفة إذ قالوا مَا أَنْتُمْ إِلَّا بِشْرٌ مِثْلُكُمْ إِنَّكُمْ إِذًا مِثْلُكُ، وقالوا أَنُوْمِنُ لِبَشَرَيْنِ مِثْلِنَا — وَلَئِنْ أَطَعْتُمْ بَشَرًا مِثْلَكُمْ إِنَّكُمْ إِذًا لَخَاسِرُونَ، فتعجبوا من أن يفوز برتبة الرسالة والوحي والقرب من الله تعالى بشر مثلهم، فحسدوهم، وأحبوا زوال النبوة عنهم جزعا أن يفضل عليهم من هو مثلهم في الخلقة، لا عن قصد تكبر، وطلب رئاسة وتقدم عداوة، أو سبب آخر من سائر الأسباب.

لسبب الخامس

الخوف من فوت المقاصد: وذلك يختص بمتزاحمين على مقصود واحد فإن كل واحد يحسد صاحبه في كل نعمة تكون عونا له في الانفراد بمقصوده، ومن هذا الجنس تحاسد الضرائر في التزاحم على مقاصد الزوجية، وتحاسد الإخوة في التزاحم على نيل المنزلة في قلب الأبوين.

لسبب السادس

حب الرئاسة وطلب الجاه لنفسه من غير توصل به إلى مقصود: وذلك كالرجل الذي يريد أن يكون عديم النظير في فن من الفنون إذا غلب عليه حب الثناء واستفزه الفرح بما يمدح به، فإنه لو سمع بنظير له في أقصى العالم لساءَه ذلك، وأحب موته، أو زوال النعمة عنه

سبب الرابع

⁴ Sūrah al-Zukhruf: 31.

⁵ Sūrah Yāsīn:15.

⁶ Sūrah al-Mu'minūn: 47.

⁷ Sūrah al-Mu'minūn: 34.

part of the world. Such a person may resent their rival's success, wish for their downfall, or hope for the removal of their blessings.

Seventh Cause: Malice and Stinginess of the Soul Toward Allah's Blessings on Others

This occurs when a person harbours an inherently wicked nature and resents the well-being of others, even when they have no personal ambitions for leadership, wealth, or superiority. Such a person feels distressed upon hearing about someone else's success or blessings. However, if they hear about people's hardships, failures, or struggles, they feel delighted. They constantly wish for the downfall of others and begrudge Allah's blessings upon His servants, as if those receiving the blessings are taking them from their own personal wealth and treasures.

Ruling on Envy

Legal Ruling

If the envy involves the actual desire for the removal of someone else's blessing, then it is forbidden by the consensus of the Ummah.

This is because it constitutes an objection to Allah's decree, a challenge to His wisdom, an attempt to undo what He has ordained, a wish to strip someone of the blessings that Allah has rightfully granted them.

The prohibition of this type of envy is established through the Qur'an, the *Sunnah*, and rational evidence.

As for the evidence from the Qur'an, it is found in Allah's statement, "And from the evil of the envier when he envies." In this verse, Allah commands us to seek refuge from the harm of the envier, whose evil is abundant and varied. Some of that harm is involuntary, such as afflicting others with the evil eye, while other forms are intentional—like striving to prevent good from reaching the envied person, belittling them in front of others, making supplications against them, or even physically harming them. The scholars of interpretation

لسبب السابع

خبث النفس وشحها بالخير لعباد الله تعالى: فإنك تجد من لا يشتغل برياسة وتكبر ولا طلب مال، إذا وصف عنده حسن حال عبد من عباد الله تعالى فيما أنعم الله به عليه يشق ذلك عليه، وإذا وصف له اضطراب أمور الناس، وإدبارهم، وفوات مقاصدهم، وتنغص عيشهم فرح به، فهو أبدا يجب الإدبار لغيره، ويبخل بنعمة الله على عباده كأنهم يأخذون ذلك من ملكه وخزائنه.

لحكم

لحكم التكليفي

الحسد إن كان حقيقيًا، أي بمعنى تمني زوال النعمة عن الغير فهو حرام بإجماع الأمة؛ لأنه اعتراض على الحق، ومعاندة له، ومحاولة لنقض ما فعله، وإزالة فضل الله عمن أهله له، والأصل في تحريمه الكتاب والسنة والمعقول.

أما الكتاب: فقوله تعالى وَمِنْ شَرِّ حَاسِدٍ إِذَا حَسَدَ فقد أمرنا الله سبحانه وتعالى بالاستعاذة من شر الحاسد، وشره كثير، فمنه ما هو غير مكتسب وهو إصابة العين، ومنه ما هو مكتسب كسعيه في تعطيل الخير عنه وتنقيصه عند الناس، وربما دعا عليه أو بطش به إلى غير ذلك. وقد اختلف أهل التأويل في الحاسد الذي ورد الأمر بالاستعاذة من شره.

Translated by Fitrah Centre www.fitrahcentre.com

⁸ Sūrah al-Falaq:5.

differed regarding the exact meaning of the envier mentioned in the verse.

Qatādah stated that what is meant is the evil of the envier's eye and inner self.

Others have said, "Rather, the Prophet (peace be upon him) was commanded in this verse to seek refuge from the evil of the Jews who envied him." However, the view most correct, as stated by al-Tabarī, is that "The Prophet (peace be upon him) was commanded to seek refuge from the evil of every envier when they envy." This is the most accurate interpretation because Allah, the Almighty, did not specify any particular envier in His words, "And from the evil of the envier when he envies"—rather, His command was general, including all enviers. Therefore, it should be understood in its broadest and most inclusive sense. As al-Qurtubī said, "The envier is an enemy of Allah's blessings."

Some of the wise men said that the envier openly challenges his Lord in five ways:

- 1. He hates every blessing that appears upon someone else.
- 2. He is discontent with Allah's decree, as if to say, "Why did You distribute things this way?"
- 3. He opposes the action of Allah, for Allah gives His favour to whomever He wills, while the envier begrudges that favour.
- 4. He has abandoned the allies of Allah, or wishes for their downfall and the removal of blessings from them.
- 5. He has aided his enemy, Iblīs (Satan).

As for the Sunnah, the Prophet (peace be upon him) said, "Beware of envy, for envy consumes good deeds just as fire consumes wood or dry grass."

As for rational evidence, the envier is blameworthy. It has been said, "The envier gains nothing in gatherings but regret, nothing فقال قتادة المراد شر عينه ونفسه.

وقال آخرون بل أُمر النبي صلى الله عليه وسلم بهذه الآية أن يستعيذ من شر اليهود الذين حسدوه والأولى بالصواب في ذلك كما قال الطبري إن النبي صلى الله عليه وسلم أمر بأن يستعيذ من شر كل حاسد إذا حسد وإنما كان ذلك أولى بالصواب؛ لأن الله عز وجل لم يخصص من قوله وَمِن شَرِّ حَاسِدٍ إِذَا حَسَد حاسدًا دون حاسد بل عم أمره إياه بالاستعاذة من شر كل حاسد فذلك على عمومه والحاسد كما قال القرطبي عدو نعمة الله.

قال بعض الحكماء بارز الحاسد ربه من خمسة أوجه:

أحدها: أنه أبغض كل نعمة ظهرت على غيره.

ثانيها: أنه ساخط لقسمة ربه كأنه يقول: لم قسمت هذه القسمة؟

ثالثها: أنه ضاد فعل الله، أي إن فضل الله يؤتيه من يشاء، وهو يبخل بفضل الله.

ورابعها: أنه خذل أولياء الله، أو يريد خذلانهم وزوال النعمة عنهم.

وخامسها: أنه أعان عدوه إبليس.

وأما السنة: فقوله صلى الله عليه وسلم إياكم والحسد فإن الحسد يأكل الحسنات كما تأكل النار الحطب أو العشب.

وأما المعقول فإن الحاسد مذموم، فقد قيل إن الحاسد لا ينال في المجالس إلا ندامة، ولا ينال في المجالس إلا ندامة، ولا ينال في الخلوة إلا جزعًا وغمًا، ولا ينال في الآخرة إلا حزنًا واحتراقًا، ولا ينال من الله إلا بعدًا ومقتًا.

before the angels but curse and hatred, nothing in solitude but anxiety and grief, nothing in the Hereafter but sorrow and punishment, and nothing from Allah except distance and wrath."

An exception to the prohibition of envy is when the envied blessing is possessed by a disbeliever or a corrupt person (fāsiq) who uses it to commit sins against Allah—wishing for the removal of such a blessing is not blameworthy.

As for figurative envy (hasad majāzī), meaning ghibtah (admiration without malice), then it is praiseworthy when related to acts of obedience, blameworthy when related to acts of disobedience, permissible when related to neutral (permissible) matters. This is reflected in the Prophet's (peace be upon him) saying, "There is no envy except in two cases: a man whom Allah has given the Qur'an, and he recites it by night and by day; and a man whom Allah has given wealth, and he spends it by night and by day." Meaning: there is no greater or more virtuous form of ghibtah than in these two matters.

The Excused Degree of Envy, Its Opposite, and What Is Disputed

Al-Ghazālī stated that a person cannot completely banish envy from his heart; rather, he will always remain in conflict with his heart, because some envy of his rivals is bound to remain within him. He stated in this regard that a person has three states regarding his enemies:

- 1. A person naturally feels pleased at the their misfortune, but with their intellect and faith, they disapprove of that feeling, despise themselves for it, and wish they could remove it from their heart. This state is clearly excused, because it is not within one's control, or no more than what is humanly possible to control.
- 2. A person loves their misfortune and expresses joy either verbally or through actions. This is undoubtedly the prohibited type of envy.

ويستثنى من تحريم الحسد ما إذا كانت النعمة التي يتمنى الحاسد زوالها عند كافر أو فاسق يستعين بما على معاصى الله تعالى.

أما إذا كان الحسد مجازيًا، أي بمعنى الغبطة فإنه محمود في الطاعة ومذموم في المعصية، ومباح في الجائزات، ومنه قوله صلى الله عليه وسلم لا حسد إلا في اثنتين: رجل آتاه الله القرآن فهو يتلوه آناء الليل وآناء النهار، ورجل آتاه الله مالا فهو ينفقه آناء الليل وآناء النهار .أي كأنه قال لا غبطة أعظم أو أفضل من الغبطة في هذين الأمرين

القدر المعفو عنه من الحسد وعكسه وما فيه خلاف

ذكر الغزالي أن المرء لا يمكنه نفي الحسد عن قلبه بالكليَّة، بل يبقى دائمًا في نزاع مع قلبه؛ لأنه لابد أن يبقى فيه شيء من الحسد لأعدائه وذكر في هذا المقام أن للشخص في أعدائه ثلاثة أحوال.

أحدها: أن يحب مساءتهم بطبعه، ويكره حبه لذلك وميل قلبه إليه بعقله، وبمقت نفسه عليه، ويود لوكانت له حيلة في إزالة ذلك الميل منه، وهذا معفو عنه قطعًا؛ لأنه لا يدخل تحت الاختيار أكثر منه.

الثاني: أن يحب ذلك ويظهر الفرح بمساءته إما بلسانه أو بجوارحه فهذاهو الحسد المحظور قطعًا. 3. Between the two: a person feels envy inwardly, but does not condemn themselves for it, nor do they disapprove of what is in their heart. However, they refrain from acting upon it through words or actions. This case is subject to scholarly disagreement. The apparent view is that it is not free from sin, and the degree of sin depends on the strength or weakness of the love for the other's misfortune.

الثالث: وهو بين الطرفين أن يحسد بالقلب من غير مقت لنفسه على حسده، ومن غير إنكار منه على قلبه، ولكن يحفظ جوارحه عن طاعة الحسد في مقتضاه، وهذا في محل الخلاف، والظاهر أنه لا يخلو عن إثم بقدر قوة ذلك الحب وضعفه.

Chapter 3: Types and Levels of Envy

Types of Envy

Imam al-Nawawī mentioned in his explanation of Sahīh Muslim that envy is of two types:

- 1. Real Envy (*Hasad Haqīqī*): This is when a person wishes for the removal of a blessing from its owner.
- 2. Figurative Envy (*Hasad Majāzī*): This is when a person wishes to have a similar blessing to what someone else has, without wishing for it to be taken away—and this is what is known as *ghibtah* (admiration without malice).

Levels of Envy

There are four levels of envy:

- 1. The envier wishes for the removal of the blessing from the envied person, even if that blessing does not transfer to him. This is the worst and most malicious form of envy.
- 2. The envier wishes for the blessing to be removed from the one who has it because he desires that blessing for himself—such as a longing for a nice house, a beautiful wife, a powerful position, or wealth that someone else has attained. His goal is for that specific blessing to become his, not merely for it to disappear. However, while he desires the blessing, he is also bothered by the fact that someone else is enjoying it, and he dislikes that anyone else should benefit from it besides himself.
- 3. The envier does not desire the exact same blessing, but rather wants something equal to it. If he is unable to attain something similar, he then wishes for the other's blessing to be removed, so no visible disparity remains between them.

أقسام الحسد

ذكر النووي في شرح مسلم أن الحسد قسمان:

أحدهما حقيقي: وهو أن يتمنى زوال النعمة عن صاحبها.

والثاني مجازي: وهو أن يتمنى مثل النعمة التي عند غيره من غير زوالها عن صاحبها وهو المسمى بالغبطة.

مواتب الحسد

مراتب الحسد أربعة:

الأولى: أن يحب الحاسد زوال النعمة عن المحسود، وإن كان ذلك لا ينتقل إليه، وهذا غاية الخبث.

الثانية: أن يحب زوال النعمة عن المحسود إليه لرغبته في تلك النعمة، مثل رغبته في دار حسنة، أو امرأة جميلة، أو ولاية نافذة، أو سعة نالها غيره وهو يحب أن تكون له ومطلوبة تلك النعمة لا زوالها عنه، ومكروهة فقد النعمة لا تنعم غيره بها.

الثالثة: أن لا يشتهي الحاسد عين النعمة لنفسه بل يشتهي مثلها، فإن عجز عن مثلها أحب زوالهاكي لا يظهر التفاوت بينهما.

الرابعة: الغبطة، وهي أن يشتهي لنفسه مثل النعمة، فإن لم تحصل فلا يحب زوالها عنه. 4. The person desires a similar blessing for themselves, and if they are unable to attain it, they do not wish for the other to lose it (*ghibtah*).

This fourth level is excused when related to worldly matters, and recommended when it concerns religious matters.

The third level can be either blameworthy or not [depending on the intent]. The second level is less severe than the third. The first level is enitrely blameworthy.

Referring to the fourth level as "envy" is tolerable. It is not blameworthy, as Allah says, "And do not wish for that by which Allah has favoured some of you over others."

Wishing for something similar is not blameworthy, but wishing for the exact blessing [to be removed or transferred from another] is. وهذا الأخير هو المعفو عنه إن كان في شأن دنيوي، والمندوب إليه إن كان في شأن ديني.

والثالثة فيها مذموم وغير مذموم، والثانية أخف من الثالثة, والأولى مذمومة محضة.

وتسمية هذه الرتبة الأخيرة حسدًا فيه تجوز وتوسع، ولكنه مذموم لقوله تعالى وَلَا تَتَمَنَّوْا مَا فَضَّلَ اللهُ بِهِ بَعْضَكُمْ عَلَى بَعْضٍ فتمنيه لمثل ذلك .غير مذموم، وأما تمنيه عين ذلك فهو مذموم

-

⁹ Sūrah al-Nisā': 32.

Chapter 4: Difference Between Evil Eye and Envy

The one who gives the evil eye ('a'in') and the envier (hāsid) share some similarities and differ in other ways.

They are similar in that both experience a certain inner state that forms within them and becomes directed toward the one they intend to harm.

For the 'a'in, this inner state forms upon seeing and directly observing the person or thing they affect.

For the *hāsid*, this state can occur whether the envied person is present or absent.

They differ in that the 'a'in may harm things he does not necessarily envy, such as inanimate objects, animals, crops, or wealth—even though he is usually not free from some degree of envy toward the owner. In fact, a person's evil eye may even affect themselves, as merely seeing something with astonishment and intense focus, while their soul is in that harmful state, can have an impact on the object seen.

"The evil eye is considered a part of envy which is broader in scope. Therefore, seeking refuge from the envier includes seeking refuge from the evil eye as well." 10

العائن والحاسد يشتركان في شيء ويفترقان في شيء

فيشتركان في أن كل واحد منهما تتكيف نفسه وتتوجه نحو من يريد أذاه

فالعائن تتكيف نفسه عند مقابلة المعين ومعاينته.

والحاسد يحصل له ذلك عند غيب المحسود وحضوره أيضا.

ويفترقان في أن العائن قد يصيب من لا يحسده من جماد أو حيوان أو زرع أو مال وإن كان لا يكاد ينفك من حسد صاحبه وربما أصابت عينه نفسه فإن رؤيته للشيء رؤية تعجب وتحديق مع تكيف نفسه بتلك الكيفية تؤثر في المعين.

العين جزء من الحسد . والحاسد أعمّ من العائن لذا كانت الإستعاذة منه إستعاذة من العائن.

Translated by Fitrah Centre www.fitrahcentre.com

¹⁰ Zād al-Ma'ād, Vol. 4, p. 149.

Chapter 5: Areas of Influence

Potency of Envy

Envy is more potent than evil eye. While the evil eye may come from mere admiration, or it may come from an envious gaze, envy itself is greater because it is more comprehensive in its nature.

Areas of Influence

Envy can affect all areas of life, whether religious or worldly, and whether tangible or intangible. Some of its effects can be summarised as follows:

- Mind. Such as intelligence, memory, concentration, comprehension, and academic performance.
- Livelihood. Including wealth, means of earning, job opportunities, and status.
- Physical beauty. Such as hair, facial features, skin tone and complexion, and body shape.
- Religion. Including one's relationship with the Qur'an, acts of worship, spiritual presence, and uprightness.
- Character. Such as modesty, honesty, manners, noble traits, humility, and kindness.
- Marital and family life. General family happiness, marital harmony, issues related to pregnancy and miscarriage, and children's upbringing and obedience.
- Lifespan. In terms of longevity or how age appears physically—some sayings even describe envy as strong enough to "put a man in his grave."
- **Body.** Including strength, energy, speed, overall health and well-being, and skills (e.g., cooking).

قوة الحسد

أكبر وأعظم من العين. فالعين قد تكون معجبة وقد تكون العين الحاسدة ومع ذلك فالحسد أكبر لشموله.

مجالات تأثير الحسد

يؤثر في جميع المجالات دينية أو دنيوية، حسية أو معنوية وألخص بعضها في الآتي:

يؤثر في العقول: الذكاء- الحفظ- التركيز- الفهم والاستيعاب- الدراسة

يؤثر في الرزق: المال- طرق الكسب- الوظيفة والمركز.

يؤثر في الجمال: الشعر- الوجه- اللون والبشرة-الجسد.

يؤثر في الدين: القرآن- العبادات- خشوع- الاستقامة.

يؤثر في الأخلاق: حياء- صدق- أدب- مكارم الأخلاق- تواضع-طيبة

يؤثر في الحياة الزوجية والأسرية: سعادة الأسرة عمومًا والنفور بين الأزواج الحمل والولادة وسقوط الأجنة- تربية وبرّ الأبناء.

يؤثر في الأعمار: طول الأعمار – نسبة العمر إلى المظهر – تقتل تدخل الرجل القبر.

يؤثر في الأجساد: القوة والنشاط والسرعة –الصحة والعافية – المهارات – الطبخ.

- Animals. Camels may collapse into pots (a metaphor for sudden death), birds may fall, and animals may become ill or die.
- **Plants, trees, and fruits.** Causing them to decay, burn, wither, or die.
- **Inanimate objects.** Such as cars, devices of all types, and women's adornments (like jewellery and accessories).

يؤثر في الحيوانات: تدخل الجمل القدر، تسقط الطير-تميت وتمرض.

يؤثر في النباتات والأشجار والثمار: تتلف- تحرق- تذبل وتميت.

يؤثر في الجمادات: السيارات- الأجهزة بأنواعها- أدوات الزينة للنساء حلي ونحوه.

Chapter 6: Symptoms of Being Affected by Envy

There are certain symptoms that appear in those afflicted by [envy and] evil eye, and the one who recognises them most accurately is often the experienced healer, due to the many cases they have seen and heard. These symptoms become consistent and recognisable in cases of evil eye or envy.

Some ignorant people deny this, as Imam Ibn al-Qayyim said, "This is knowledge known to a few. Those who are spiritually veiled deny it. The impact and connection of envy is only recognised by those who have experienced it to some degree." ¹¹

Some symptoms that a healer may rely on when questioning a patient include the following. However, this does not mean that everyone who experiences some of these symptoms is necessarily afflicted by evil eye or envy. These symptoms may include:

- Frequent yawning without tiredness.
- Excessive burping without eating, which increases during Qur'an recitation.
- Itching.
- Frequent spitting.
- Appearance of pimples or boils.
- Marks on the body resembling an eye shape.
- Unexplained sensations of heat or cold.
- Tightness in the chest.
- Lethargy, laziness, and insomnia.
- Satanic whispers.
- Swelling or obesity despite eating little.
- Some types of cancer.
- Some psychological conditions such as madness, delusions, and fear.
- Forgetfulness and drowsiness when studying, reading the Qur'an, going to school, or during exams, often accompanied by headaches.
- Nasal allergies and sinus issues.

هناك أعراض تظهر على من اصابته العين وأكثر من يعرفه المعالج وذلك لكثرة ما رأى وسمع من حالات المرضى، وتواترت عنده هذه الأعراض في الإصابات بالعين أو الحسد.

حيث أنَّ بعض الجهّال ينكرون ذلك كما قال الإمام ابن القيّم وهذا علم لا يعرفه إلا خواصّ الناس والمحجوبون منكرون له ولا يعلم تأثير ذلك وارتباطه بالطبيعة إلاّ من له نصيب من ذوقه.

بعض الأعراض التي يستدل بما المعالج عند سؤاله للمريض وليس معنى هذا أن من عنده بعض هذه الأعراض أنه لابد أن يكون معيونًا أو محسودًا فمنها:

- التثاؤب المتتابع بدون نعاس
- الجشاء (التكريع) الكثير مع عدم الأكل ويزداد عند قراءة
 القرآن
- الهرش (الحكّة)
- كثرة البصق (التفل)
- ظهور حبوب ودمامل
- ظهور آثار على الجسم على شكل العين
- الحرارة أو البرودة بدون سبب
- ضيق الصدر
- الخمول والكسل والأرق
- الوسوسة •
- انتفاخ الجسم (السمنة) مع قلة الأكل
- بعض حالات السرطان •
- بعض الحالات النفسيّة كالجنون والوهم والخوف
- النسيان والنعاس عند المذاكرة أو قراءة القرآن أو الذهاب
 للمرسة أو عند الامتحانات أو الصداع
- حساسية الأنف والجيوب الأنفية

Translated by Fitrah Centre www.fitrahcentre.com

¹¹ Badā'i al-Fawā'id, Vol. 2, p. 367.

- Frequent sneezing without a cold, especially related to specific situations.
- Hair loss.
- Dark circles under the eyes and pale face without physical fatigue.
- Persistent headaches.
- Bruise-like spots under the skin, brown or blue in colour, especially on the thighs or arms.
- Unexplained stomach pain near the upper abdomen that doctors cannot diagnose.
- Irritable bowel syndrome issues.
- Sudden skin peeling in the armpits and private areas.
- Desire to leave the house and aversion to staying in it.
- Feelings of death or hopelessness.
- Severe, shifting illnesses that cannot be diagnosed by medicine and test results appear normal despite the presence of pain.
- The body's failure to respond to treatment for a physical illness, even with increased doses.
- Sudden appearance of ants—more accurately, small black insects (*dharr*)—in the home, without visible entry points, in unusual and noticeable numbers.
- Frequent crying in children.

Some of the signs that a healer may infer from a patient's dreams are those that have been frequently reported by practitioners of *ruqyah*, and are also known from the reports of those who came before us. Among them are seeing:

- Cats.
- Insects.
- Scorpions.
- Dogs.
- Jinn staring.
- Geckos (house lizards).
- Ants or small black insects.
- Seeing an eye in a dream or veiled women.
- Seeing certain people—acquaintances or relatives suspected of giving the evil eye—looking at him with hateful

- العطاس الكثير بدون زكام وخاصة في الأمور التي أصيب فيها
- تساقط الشعر
- سواد تحت العينين وشحوب الوجه مع عدم الإجهاد
- الصداع الدائم
- ظهور بقع تحت الجلد كالكدمات بنية اللون أو زرقاء وخاصة في الفخذ أو الذراعين
- آلام عند فم المعدة عجز عنها الأطباء
- مشاكل القولون العصبي
- تسلخ مفاجئ في الإبطين والعورة
- الرغبة في الخروج من المنزل وكراهية البقاء فيه
- الشعور بالموت واليأس
- الإصابة بأمراض مختلفة متنقلة شديدة لا يشخصها الطب
 و تأتى النتائج سليمة مع وجود الألم
- عدم استجابة جسم المريض مرضًا عضويًا لأفضل الأدوية
 ولو زيد في الجرعات
- ظهور النمل والصحيح أنه الذّر في المنزل فجأة مع عدم
 وجود منافذ يأتي منها ويكون ملفتًا لكثرته
- كثرة بكاء الأطفال

بعض الأعراض التي يُستدل بها المعالج من منامات المريض وهي ما تواتر عند الرقاة وما علم من أخبار من سبقنا ومنه رؤية:

- .القطط
- .الحشرات
- .العقرب
- . الكلاب
- . جن ينظرون •
- .الوزغ •
- .الذر أو النمل •
- . رؤية عين في المنام أو نساء متغطيات
- رؤية بعض العائنين من معارفه أو أقاربه في النوم ينظرون إليه بنظرات حاقدة أو يسمع كلمات يقولونها عنه ويرى أعينهم . بطريقة بشعة

stares, hearing them speak ill of him, or seeing their eyes in a disturbing way.

- Graves and the dead.
- Hearing in the dream that it is the evil eye.
- Seeing someone suspected of being envious.
- Verses (from the Qur'an) related to the evil eye, envy, or both.
- . قبور وأموات
- . سماع أنها عين
- . رؤية من يشكّ بحسده
- . آيات في العين أو الحسد أو كلاهما

Chapter 7: Harms and Evils of Envy

- Envy is a reprehensible trait that harms the body and corrupts one's religion.
- There is no limit to the reach of the envier's envy—it can affect both those near and far.
- They do not spare anyone, and even their own self is not safe from their envy. It has been said,
- "A person's admiration of themselves is one of the envious forces against their own intellect."
- Envy melts the soul and strips it of its virtues.
- The envier opposes Allah, His blessings, and His divine wisdom.
- Envy leads to hatred and often results in conflict and fighting.
- Envy is a gateway to misery. Ibn 'Abbas, may Allah be pleased with them, was asked, "Which is worse: envy or misery?" He replied, "Envy is what leads to misery. Iblis envied Adam, and his envy became the cause of his misery—he became cursed after having been honoured."
- Envy gives rise to corruption in acts of worship, and leads to sins and evil deeds.

خلق ذميم مع إضراره بالبدن وإفساده للدين.

ليس لحسد الحاسد حد بل ينال القريب والبعيد.

لا يترك أحدًا إلا حسده حتى نفسه لا تسلم منه حتى قيل وعجب المرء بنفسه أحد حساد عقله.

الحسد يذيب النفس ويذهب بفضائلها.

الحاسد يعادى الله ويعادى نعمه وحكمه.

الحسد يسبب البغض يفضى إلى النزاع والتقاتل.

الحسد داعية النكد سُئلَ ابن عباس رضي الله عنهما عن الحسد والنكد أيهما شر؟ فقال الحسد داعية للنكد إبليس حسد آدم فصار حسده سبب نكده فأصبح لعيناً بعد ان كان مكينًا.

ينشأ عن الحسد إفساد الطاعات وفعل المعاصى والشرور.

Chapter 8: Envy Is a Natural Tendency—So Correct It

I saw that people strongly condemn the envier, going to great lengths, saying, "Only a wicked person envies—someone who opposes Allah's blessings, is displeased with His decree, and begrudges his Muslim brother."

So I reflected on this and didn't find it to be exactly as they claim. The truth is that a human being naturally does not like others to surpass them. When someone sees a friend rise above them, they feel affected by it and dislike being outdone. They may wish that their friend had not attained such success—or that they themselves could attain the same—so that they would not be overshadowed. This is something mixed into human nature, and there is no blame in merely feeling this way. The blame lies in acting upon it—through words or deeds.

I used to think this insight came from my own reflection and introspection, until I came across a statement by al-Hasan al-Basrī that had already expressed this.

He said: "There is no descendant of Adam except that envy was created along with him."

And he continued, "Isolation from people is a means to a peaceful life. But some level of interaction is necessary. So be cautious with your enemy and treat him lightly—for he may plot against you and destroy you. Be good to those who wrong you, and seek help in your affairs through secrecy. Let people be mere acquaintances to you—but as for close friends, have none."

For the rarest thing to find is a friend—because a friend must be someone of equal standing. If you find someone common and unrefined, you won't benefit from them due to their bad character, lack of knowledge, and poor manners. And if you find someone who is your equal or close to it, they may envy you. If you are observant, you'll detect signs of envy in their words and actions. Allah said, "You will surely recognise them by the tone of their

رأیت الناس یذمون الحاسد و یبالغون ویقولون لا یحسد إلا شریر یعادی نعمة الله، ولا یرضی بقضائه، و یبخل علی أخیه المسلم.

فنظرت في هذا فما رأيته كما يقولون، و ذاك أن الإنسان لا يحب أن يرتفع عليه أحد، فإذا رأى صديقه قد علا عليه تأثر هو ولم يحب أن يرتفع عليه، وود لو لم ينل صديقه ما ينال، أو أن ينال هو ما نال ذاك لئلا يرتفع عليه وهذا معجون في الطين، و لا لوم على ذلك إنما اللوم أن يعمل بمقتضاه من قول أو فعل.

وكنت أظن أن هذا قد وقع لي عن .سري وفحصي، فرأيت الحديث عن الحسن البصري قد سبقني إليه.

قال أخبرنا عبد الخالق بن عبد الصمد، قال أخبرنا ابن النقود، قال أخبرنا المخلص، قال حدثنا البغوي، قال حدثنا أبو روح، قال حدثنا مخلد بن الحسين، عن هشام عن الحسن، قال ليس من ولد آدم إلا وقد خلق معه الحسد.

والعزلة عن الخلق سبب طيب العيش. ولابد من مخالطة بمقدار، فدار العدو واستحله، فربما كادك فأهلكك. وأحسن إلى من أساء إليك واستعن على أمورك بالكتمان، ولتكن الناس عندك معارف، فأما أصدقاء فلا.

لأن أعز الأشياء وجود صديق، ذاك أن الصديق يجب أن يكون في مرتبة مماثل. فإن صادفته عاميًا لم تنتفع به لسوء أخلاقه، و قلة علمه و أدبه، و إن صادفت مماثلاً أو مقاربًا حسدك.

وإذا كان لك يقظة تلمحت من أفعاله وأقواله ما يدل على حسدك قال تعالى ولتَعرِفَنَّهُم فِي لحنِ القَّول. وإذا أردت تأكيد ذلك فضع عليه .من يضعك عنده. فلا يحرج إليه إلا بما في قلبه

speech." ¹² If you want to confirm it, have someone you trust speak about you to them—their response will reveal what's truly in their heart.

If you want to live peacefully, stay away from the envious person—for he sees your blessing, and may even strike it with the evil eye.

If you are forced to interact with him:

- Do not reveal your secrets.
- Do not consult him.
- Do not be deceived by his flattery.
- Do not be fooled by his outward display of religiosity and worship.

For envy can overpower religion.

You know that Qābīl (Cain) was driven by envy to commit murder. The brothers of Yūsuf (Joseph) sold him for a petty price out of envy. Abū 'Āmir, the Monk, who was a devout and wise worshipper, and 'Abdullāh ibn Ubayy, a tribal leader—both were driven by envy of the Prophet into hypocrisy and misguidance.

You should not seek any punishment for the envier greater than the torment he already suffers—for he is in a constant, unbearable state that brings him no peace except through the removal of your blessing. And the more your blessings grow, the more his torment increases. The people of Paradise only found joy once envy and hatred were removed from their hearts. If it hadn't been removed, they would have envied one another and their joy would have been spoiled. So whoever [unobligingly] harbours envy in their heart but does not act on it through word or deed, then it will not be counted against them.

When the virtues of Adam (peace be upon him) became apparent to all creation through the angels prostrating to him, through فإن أردت العيش فابعد عن الحسود؛ لأنه يرى نعمتك، فربما أصابحا بالعين.

فإن إضطررت إلى مخالطته فلا تفش له سرك ولا تشاوره، ولا يغرنك تملقه لك، ولا ما يظهره من الدين والتعبد، فإن الحسد يغلب الدين.

وقد عرفت أن قابيل أخرجه الحسد إلى القتل. وإن أخوة يوسف باعوه بثمن بخس. وكان أبو عامر الراهب من المتعبدين العقلاء، وعبد الله بن أبي من الرؤساء، أخرجهما حسد رسول الله صلى الله عليه و سلم إلى النفاق و ترك الصواب.

ولا ينبغي أن تطلب لحاسدك عقوبة أكثر مما هو فيه، فإنه في أمر عظيم متصل لا يرضيه إلا زوال نعمتك. وكلما امتدت امتد عذابه، فلا عيش له وما طاب عيش أهل الجنة إلا حين نزع الحسد والغل من صدورهم ولولا أنه نزع تحاسدوا وتنغص عيشهم. فمن لم يجاوز ذلك بقول ولا بفعل لم يتبعه شيء.

¹² Sūrah Muhammad: 30.

his knowledge of the names of all things, and through him informing the angels of them while they listened as students listen to their teacher—they acknowledged their inability to match his knowledge and admitted his superiority. Then he and his wife were made to dwell in Paradise. At that point, envy appeared from Iblīs, and he began plotting harm. And to this day, whenever virtues appear, they are envied:

May your enviers not die, but rather live on forever. So they can witness from you what fills their hearts with grief.

May you always be envied for the blessings you possess. For truly, only the complete and worthy are envied.

So he (Iblīs) continued plotting against Adam until he caused him to be expelled from Paradise. But the fool (Iblīs) did not realise that Adam's virtues were only perfected by that, for when he left Paradise, he returned to it in a state better than before. What destroyed Iblīs was his self-conceit, as he said, "I am better than him." Whereas Adam's virtues were perfected by his admission of fault, as he said, "Our Lord, we have wronged ourselves."

Every time Iblīs kindled the fire of envy against Adam, the fragrance of Adam's goodness spread—and Iblīs burned in his own flame:

And when Allah wills to reveal a virtue that was hidden. He allows the tongue of an envier to uncover it.

If fire did not burn what it touches. The sweet scent of aloeswood would never be known.

لما ظهرت فضائل آدم عليه السلام على الخلائق بسجود الملائكة له وبتعليمه أسماء كل شيء وإخباره الملائكة بما وهم يستمعون له كاستماع المتعلم من معلمه، حتى أقروا بالعجز عن علمه و أقروا له بالفضل وأسكن هو وزوجته الجنة، ظهر الحسد من إبليس و سعى في الأذى وما زالت الفضائل إذا ظهرت تحسد:

لا مات حسّادك بل خلدوا حتى يروا منك الذي يكمد

لا زلت محسوداً على نعمة فإنما الكامل من يحسد

فما زال يحتال على آدم حتى تسبب في إخراجه من الجنة و ما فهم الأبله أن آدم إذا خرج منها كملت فضائله ثم عاد إلى الجنة على أكمل من حاله الأول، إنما أهلك إبليس العجب بنفسه و لذلك قال أنا خير منه، و إنما كملت فضائل آدم باعترافه على نفسه قَالا رَبَّنَا ظَلَمنَا أَنفُسَنا.

كان إبليس كلما أوقد نار الحسد لآدم فاح بما ريح طيب آدم واحترق إبليس:

> و إذا أراد الله نشر فضيلة طويت أتاح لها لسان حسود

لولا اشتعال النار فيما جاورت ماكان يعرف طيب عرف العود

Chapter 9: Prevalence of Envy Among Peers and Siblings

Envy is most prevalent among people who share the causes we have previously mentioned, and it grows stronger among those in whom multiple causes of envy come together and reinforce one another. A single person may envy another for various reasons: because they reject being looked down upon, because they themselves are arrogant, because they are an enemy, or due to other motives. These causes are more frequent among people who are closely connected by social tiesthose who regularly sit together, interact, and pursue similar goals. So, when one of them opposes another in a particular objective, natural aversion arises, leading to hatred and resentment. At that point, one may try to belittle the other, assert superiority, or retaliate for that opposition. He also begins to resent the blessings that allow the other to achieve his aims. And all this occurs together in succession. By contrast, two people living in distant towns, or in separate neighbourhoods, are unlikely to envy one another—there is no shared space or rivalry between them. But if they live near each other—in the same home, market, school, or mosque—their goals may and conflict, and from contradiction arise hostility and hatred, which in turn fuel further causes of envy. That's why you'll find a scholar envies another scholar, not a worshipper; a worshipper envies another worshipper, not a scholar; a merchant envies another merchant; and even a cobbler envies another cobbler, but not a fabric seller—unless there is some other shared factor like proximity or competition; and a person may envy his own brother or cousin more than he envies strangers.

A woman envies her co-wife or her husband's concubine more than she envies her mother-in-law or his daughter; the interests of a cloth merchant are not the same as those of a cobbler—they do not compete over the same goals. The cloth merchant's goal is wealth, and he achieves that through many customers. The only real competitor in that is another cloth merchant, because the customer seeking cloth

اعلم أن الحسد إنما يكثر بين قوم تكثر بينهم الأسباب التي ذكرناها وإنما يقوى بين قوم تجتمع جملة من هذه الأسباب فيهم وتتظاهر إذ الشخص الواحد يجوز أن يحسد لأنه قد يمتنع عن قبول التكبر ولأنه يتكبر ولأنه عدو ولغير ذلك من الأسباب. وهذه الأسباب إنما تكثر بين أقوام تجمعهم روابط حيث يجتمعون بسببها في مجالس المخاطبات ويتواردون على الأغراض فإذا خالف واحد منهم صاحبه في غرض من الأغراض نفر طبعه عنه، وأبغضه، وثبت الحقد في قلبه فعند ذلك يريد أن يستحقره ويتكبر عليه ويكافئه على مخالفته لغرضه ويكره تمكنه من النعمة التي توصله إلى أغراضه وتترادف جملة من هذه الأسباب إذ لا رابطة بين شخصين في بلدتين متنائيتين فلا يكون بينهما محاسدة وكذلك في محلتين نعم إذا تجاورا في مسكن أو سوق أو مدرسة أو مسجد تواردا على مقاصد تتناقض فيها أغراضهما فيثور من التناقض التنافر والتباغض ومنه تثور بقية أسباب الحسد ولذلك ترى العالم يحسد العالم دون العابد، والعابد يحسد العابد دون العالم، والتاجِر يحسِدُ التاجِر، بل الإسكاف يحسد الإسكاف ولا يحسد البزاز إلا بسبب آخر سوى الاجتماع في الحرفة ويحسد الرجل أخاه وابن عمه أكثر مما يحسد الأجانب.

والمرأة تحسد ضرّتها وسرية زوجها أكثر مما تحسد أمّ الزوج وابنته؛ لأنّ مقصد البزاز غير مقصد الإسكاف فلا يتزاحمون على المقاصد إذ مقصد البزاز الثروة ولا يحصلها إلا بكثرة الزبون وإثمّا ينازعه فيه بزاز مقصد البزاز الثروة ولا يحسلها الإسكاف بل البزاز ثم مزاحمة البزاز المجاور له أكثر من مزاحمة البعيد عنه إلى طرف السوق. فلا جرم يكون حسده للجار أكثر، وكذلك الشجاع يحسد الشجاع ولا يحسد العالم؛ لأن مقصده أن يذكّر بالشجاعة ويشتهر بها، وينفرد بهذه الخصلة، ولا يزاحمه العالم على هذا الغرض. وكذلك يحسد العالم العالم ولا يحسد الشجاع ثم حسد الواعظ للواعظ أكثر من حسده للفقيه والطبيب؛ لأن التزاحم بينهما على مقصود واحد. أخص فأصل هذه المحاسدات العداوة وأصل العداوة التزاحم بينهما على غرض واحد. حيث أنَّ الغرض الواحد لا يجمع متباعدين بل متناسبين فلذلك يكثر الحسد بينهما نعم من اشتد حرصه على الجاه وأحب الصيت في جميع أطراف العالم بما هو فيه فإنه يحسد كل من هو في العالم وإن بعد ممن يساهمه في الخصلة التي يتفاخر

won't go to the cobbler—but to another cloth seller. Moreover, the cloth merchant next door is a greater rival than one further away in the market, and so it follows that his envy of his neighbouring competitor is greater. Likewise, a brave man envies another brave man, not a scholar—because his aim is to be known and recognised for bravery, to stand out in this quality, and the scholar does not compete with him in that field. Similarly, a scholar envies another scholar, not a warrior. And a preacher envies another preacher more than he envies a jurist or a doctor—because they are competing for the same audience and influence, making their rivalry more direct and specific. The root of all envy is hostility, and the root of hostility is competition over a shared goal. A single goal does not typically gather distantly different people, but rather those who are similar or closely aligned—which is why envy is more common among them. Yes, there are some people whose desire for fame is so intense, who crave to be praised throughout the entire world for a certain trait—such a person may envy everyone across the globe who shares in that trait, no matter how far away they are.

The root of all this is love for the worldly life, for the world is limited and thus creates conflict and competition among those who strive for it. As for the Hereafter, there is no limitation or scarcity. A worldly example of something like the Hereafter is the blessing of knowledge. This is why someone who loves the knowledge of Allah, His attributes, His angels, His prophets, and the unseen realms of the heavens and earth, does not envy another who has come to know these things as well because knowledge is not restricted among those who possess it. A single piece of knowledge can be known and taught to millions of scholars, and all of them rejoice in that knowledge and delight in it. One person's joy is not diminished by another's, rather the more people who share in it, the greater the sense of companionship, benefit, exchange. For this reason, there is no envy among true scholars of religion, because their goal is to know Allah, and that is a vast ocean with no limits. Their aspiration is status with Allah, and there is no shortage in what Allah

ومنشأ جميع ذلك حب الدنيا فإن الدنيا هي التي تضيق على المتزاحمين أما الآخرة فلا ضيق فيها، وإنما مثال الآخرة نعمة العلم فلا جرم من يحب معرفة الله تعالى ومعرفة صفاته وملائكته وأنبيائه وملكوت سماواته وأرضه لم يحسد غيره إذا عرف ذلك أيضا لأن المعرفة لا تضيق على العارفين بل المعلوم الواحد يعلّمه ألف ألف عالم ويفرَح بمعرفته ويلتذُّ به ولا تنقص لذة واحد بسبب غيره بل يحصل بكثرة العارفين زيادة الأنس وغرة الاستفادة والإفادة. فلذلك لا يكون بين علماء الدين محاسدة؛ لأن مقصدهم معرفة الله تعالى وهو بحر واسع لا ضيق فيه وغرضهم المنزلة عند الله ولا ضيق أيضًا فيما عند الله تعالى؛ لأن أجل ما عند الله سبحانه من النعيم لذة لقائه وليس فيها ممانعة ومزاحمة ولا يضيق بعض الناظرين على بعض بل يزيد الأنس بكثرتهم. نعم إذا قصد العلماء بالعلم المال والجاه تحاسدوا؛ لأن المال أعيان وأجسام إذا وقعت في يد واحد خلت عنها يد الآخر ومعنى الجاه ملك القلوب ومهما امتلأ قلب ، شخص بتعظيم عالم انصرف عن تعظيم الآخر أو نقص عنه لا محالة فيكون ذلك سببا للمحاسدة وإذا امتار قلب بالفرح بمعرفة الله تعالى لم يمنع ذلك أن يمتليء قلب غيره بها وأن يفرح بذلك والفرق بين العلم والمال أن المال لا يحل في يد ما لم يرتحل عن اليد الأخرى والعلم في قلب العالم مستقر ويحل في قلب غيره بتعليمه من غير أن يرتحل من قلبه

possesses—His highest reward is the delight of His closeness, and there is no competition or crowding in that. One person's vision of Him does not restrict another's; rather, the joy increases with the number of people sharing in it. However, if scholars pursue knowledge for the sake of wealth or fame, then envy arises because wealth consists of tangible items: if something is in one person's hand, it is absent from another's. And status (social recognition) means holding influence over hearts—when a heart is filled with reverence for one scholar, it inevitably lessens in its reverence for another. This becomes a cause of envy. But when a heart is filled with joy through knowledge of Allah, it does not prevent other hearts from being filled with the same joy as well. The difference between knowledge and wealth is that wealth cannot be in one hand without leaving another, while knowledge remains in the heart of the scholar and can also settle in the hearts of others through teachingwithout leaving the first heart. Wealth is made up of physical objects and has a limit. If a person were to own everything on earth, there would be nothing left for anyone else.

Wealth can be possessed by others, but knowledge has no end and cannot be fully contained. Whoever trains their soul to reflect on the majesty and greatness of Allah, and the wonders of His dominion in the heavens and the earth, will find greater delight in that than in any worldly pleasure. They will not be deprived of it, nor will others compete with them for it. Thus, there will be no envy in their heart toward any of creation, because if others come to know what they know, it does not reduce their joy—in fact, their delight increases through companionship. The pleasure of such people in constantly contemplating the wonders of the unseen is greater than the pleasure of those who gaze upon the trees and gardens of Paradise with their physical eyes. The bliss of the knower ('arif) and his Paradise lies in his knowledge, which is tied to the very nature of his being. He is safe from losing it and constantly reaps its fruits. With his soul and heart, he is nourished by the fruits of his knowledgefruits that are never cut off, never forbidden, والمال أجسام وأعيان ولها نحاية فلو ملك الإنسان جميع ما في الأرض لم يبق بعده.

مال يتملكه غيره والعلم لا نهاية له ولا يتصور استيعابه. فمن عود نفسه الفكر في جلال الله وعظمته وملكوت أرضه وسمائه صار ذلك ألذ عنده من كل نعيم ولم يكن ممنوعًا منه ولا مزاحمًا فيه فلا يكون في قلبه حسدٌ لأحد من الخلق؛ لأن غيره أيضًا لو عرف مثل معرفته لم ينقص من لذته بل زادت لذته بمؤانسته، فتكون لذة هؤلاء في مطالعة عجائب الملكوت على الدوام أعظم من لذة من ينظر إلى أشجار الجنة وبساتينها بالعين الظاهرة فإن نعيم العارف وجنته معرفته التي هي صفة ذاته يأمن زوالها وهو أبدًا يجنى ثمارها فهو بروحه وقلبه مغتذ بفاكهة علمه وهي فاكهة غير مقطوعة ولا ممنوعة بل قطوفها دانية. فهو وإن غمض العين الظاهرة فروحه أبدا ترتع في جنة عالية ورياض زاهرة فإن فرض كثرة في العارفين لم يكونوا متحاسدين بل كانوا كما قال فيهم رب العالمين ونزعنا ما في صدورهم من غل إخوانا على سرر متقابلين فهذا حالهم وهم بعد في الدنيا فماذا يظن بمم عند انكشاف الغطاء ومشاهدة المحبوب في العقبي فإذن لا يتصور أن يكون في الجنة محاسدة ولا أن يكون بين أهل الدنيا في الجنة محاسدة لأن الجنة لا مضايقة فيها ولا مزاحمة ولا تنال إلا بمعرفة الله تعالى التي لا مزاحمة فيها في الدنيا أيضا فأهل الجنة بالضرورة برءاء من الحسد في الدنيا والآخرة جميعا بل الحسد من صفات المبعدين عن سعة عليين إلى مضيق سجين. but always within reach. Even if his physical eyes were closed, his spirit is ever roaming in lofty gardens and radiant meadows. And even if many others were added to the ranks of the knowers, they would not envy one another. Instead, they would be like those described by the Lord of the Worlds, "And We will remove whatever is in their hearts of resentment, [so they will be brothers, on thrones facing one another." This is their state even while still in this world-so what do you think their condition will be when the veil is lifted and they behold the Beloved in the Hereafter? Therefore, it is impossible that there be envy in Paradise, nor between the people of this world who are destined for Paradise—because Paradise involves no scarcity, no rivalry, and is attained through knowledge of Allah, which itself has no competition, even in this world. Thus, the people of Paradise are by necessity free of envy—both in this world and the next. Indeed, envy is a trait of those distanced from the spacious heights of 'Illiyyīn and cast into the narrow depths of Sijjīn. 13

.

¹³ Ihyā ' 'Ulūm ad-Dīn, Vol. 3.

Chapter 10: Advice for the Envier

Envy is one of the major diseases of the heart, and the diseases of the heart can only be cured through knowledge and action.

The beneficial knowledge for treating the disease of envy is to truly understand that envy is harmful to you alone—in both your worldly life and your religion—while it does not harm the envied person in either. In fact, they may even benefit from it in both realms.

If you come to this realisation with clarity and insight, and you are not an enemy to yourself or a friend to your enemy, then you will undoubtedly abandon envy.

As for how envy harms you in your religion, it is because through envy:

- You have shown displeasure with Allah's decree.
- You have detested His blessings that He has distributed among His servants.
- You have rejected His justice, which He established in His kingdom through His hidden wisdom.

You have objected to this and viewed it as detestable—this is a wound to the core of your belief (*tawhīd*) and a blemish in the eye of your faith. That alone is a serious offense against your religion.

On top of that, you have:

- Betrayed a fellow believer.
- Failed to offer sincere counsel.
- Opposed the allies of Allah and His prophets, who love good for His servants/
- And you have aligned yourself with Iblīs and the disbelievers, who wish for calamity and the loss of blessings for the believers.

اعلم أن الحسد من الأمراض العظيمة للقلوب ولا تداوى أمراض القلوب إلا بالعلم والعمل.

والعلم النافع لمرض الحسد هو: أن تعرف تحقيقًا أن الحسد ضرر عليك في الدنيا والدين وأنه لا ضرر فيه على المحسود في الدنيا والدين بل ينتفع به فيهما.

ومهما عرفت هذا عن بصيرة ولم تكن عدو نفسك وصديق عدوك فارقت الحسد لا محالة.

أما كونه ضررًا عليك في الدين فهو أنك بالحسد: سخطت قضاء الله تعالى وكرهت نعمته التي قسمها بين عباده وعدله الذي أقامه في ملكه بخفي حكمته، فاستنكرت ذلك واستبشعته وهذه جناية على حدقة التوحيد وقذى في عين الإيمان وناهيك بمما جناية على الدين وقد ،انضاف إلى ذلك أنك غششت رجلاً من المؤمنين، وتركت نصيحته وفارقت أولياء الله وأنبياءه في حبهم الخير لعباده تعالى، وشاركت إبليس وسائر الكفار في محبتهم للمؤمنين البلايا وزوال النعم وهذه خبائث في القلب تأكل حسنات القلب كما تأكل النار الحطب وتمحوها كما يمحو الليل والنهار.

These are vile diseases of the heart that consume its good deeds just as fire consumes wood, and erase them as day wipes out night.

As for how envy harms you in your worldly life:

You suffer pain and torment through your envy. You are constantly in grief and misery, because your enemies are never without blessings from Allah. You continue to suffer at every blessing you see them enjoy, and feel anguish at every hardship that is removed from them. Thus, you live in distress, deprived, your heart scattered and your chest tight. What you wished upon your enemies has, in fact, befallen you—you wished for them to suffer, yet you are the one suffering now, in real time. And despite all that, your envy will not remove a single blessing from the one you envy.

Even if you did not believe in resurrection or accountability in the Hereafter, sheer worldly wisdom and intelligence would still tell you to avoid envy, given its harm to your heart and its unpleasant effects, with no benefit in return. So how much worse is it when you know that envy brings severe punishment in the Hereafter? How strange it is that a rational person would bring upon themselves Allah's wrath without gaining any benefit—only harm, pain, and misery—thereby ruining both their religion and their worldly life, for no reason and with no gain.

As for the idea that envy harms the envied person in their religion or worldly life:

This is clearly not as one may think. Your envy [alone] does not remove blessings from the envied. What Allah has decreed of favour and success must continue until the unseen appointed time set by Him [and by the causes He enabled]. There is no way to prevent it, as everything is set in measure, and every term is written to occur. This is why a prophet once complained to Allah about a tyrannical woman who had power over people. Allah revealed to him, "Retreat from her until her appointed days pass." Meaning: What We decreed in pre-eternity cannot be changed—be patient until

وأما كونه ضررًا عليك في الدنيا فهو أنك تتألم بحسدك في الدنيا أو تتعذب به ولا تزال في كمد وغم إذ أعداؤك لا يخليهم الله تعالى عن نعم يفيضها عليهم فلا تزال تتعذب بكل نعمة تراها. وتتألم بكل بلية تنصرف عنهم فتبقى مغمومًا محرومًا متشعب القلب ضيق الصدر قد نزل بك ما يشتهيه الأعداء لك وتشتهيه لأعدائك فقد كنت تريد المحنة لعدوك فتنجزت في الحال محنتك وغمك نقدًا ومع هذا فلا تزول النعمة عن المحسود بحسدك ولو لم تكن تؤمن بالبعث والحساب لكان مقتضى الفطنة إن كنت عاقلاً أن تحذر من الحسد لما فيه من ألم القلب ومساءته مع عدم النفع فكيف وأنت عالم بما في الحسد من العذاب الشديد في الآخرة. فما أعجب من العاقل كيف يتعرض لسخط الله تعالى من غير نفع يناله بل مع ضرر يحتمله وألم يقاسيه!!! فيهلك دينه ودنياه من غير جدوى ولا فائدة.

وأما أنه ضرر على المحسود في دينه ودنياه فواضح؛ لأن النعمة لا تزول عنه بحسدك بل ما قدره الله تعالى من إقبال ونعمة فلا بد أن يدوم إلى أجل غير معلوم قدره الله سبحانه فلا حيلة في دفعه بل كل شيء عنده بمقدار ولكل إجل كتاب ولذلك شكا نبي من الأنبياء من امرأة ظالمة مستولية على الخلق فأوحى الله إليه فر من قدامها حتى تنقضي أيامها أي ما قدرناه في الأزل لا سبيل إلى تغييره فاصبر حتى تنقضي المدة التي سبق القضاء بدوام إقبالها فيها ومهما لم تزل النعمة بالحسد لم يكن على المحسود ضرر في الدنيا ولا يكون عليه إثم في الآخرة.

the time of her prosperity ends as was predestined. So long as envy does not remove the blessing, the envied person suffers no harm in this world, and carries no sin in the next.

And you might say, "If only my envy actually did remove the blessing from the envied..."

This is the height of ignorance—for it is a calamity that you first wish upon yourself. You too are not free from enemies who envy you. If blessings were truly removed by envy [alone], then no one would retain any blessing from Allah, including yourself—not even the blessing of faith, for the disbelievers envy the believers for their faith. Allah says, "Many of the People of the Book wish to turn you back to disbelief after you have believed, out of envy from within themselves." ¹⁴ What the envier desires does not [necessarily] come to pass.

Yes, an envier may go astray because of their desire to mislead others—and if they desire disbelief, they may fall into it themselves. So if you wish that a blessing be taken away from someone due to your envy, [then by extension] it is as if you are wishing for faith to be stripped away from the believers due to the envy of the disbelievers. The same applies to all other blessings. And if you wish that blessings be removed from others because of your envy, yet not removed from you due to someone else's envy—then this is the peak of ignorance and foolishness. Every one of the foolish enviers wants this special privilege for themselves but you are no more entitled to it than they are. The fact that Allah's blessing upon you remains despite the envy of others is something you should be grateful for, yet due to your ignorance, you resent it. As for the fact that the envied person benefits—both in religion and in worldly matters—that is clearly evident.

ولعلك تقول ليت النعمة كانت تزول عن المحسود بحسدي

وهذا غاية الجهل فإنه بلاء تشتهيه أولاً لنفسك فإنك أيضًا لا تخلو عن عدو يحسدك، فلو كانت النعمة تزول بالحسد لم يبق لله تعالى عليك نعمة ولا على أحد من الخلق ولا نعمة الإيمان أيضًا؛ لأن الكفار يحسدون المؤمنين على الإيمان قال الله تعالى ودّ كثيرٌ من أهلِ الكتابِ لو يَردونكُم من بعد إيمانكِم كفارًا حسدًا مِن عِندِ أَنفُسِهِم إِذ ما يريد الحسود لا يكون.

نعم هو يضل بإرادته الضلال لغيره فإن أراد الكفر كفر فمن اشتهى أن تزول النعمة عن المحسود بالحسد فكأنما يريد أن يسلب نعمة الإيمان بحسد الكفار وكذا سائر النعم وإن اشتهيت أن تزول النعمة عن الخلق بحسدك ولا تزول عنك بحسد غيرك فهذا غاية الجهل والغباوة فإن كل واحد من حمقى الحساد أيضا يشتهي أن يخص بمذه الخاصية ولست بأولى من غيرك فنعمة الله تعالى عليك في إن لم تزل النعمة بالحسد مما يجب عليك شكرها وأنت بجهلك تكرهها وأما أن المحسود ينتفع به في الدين والدنيا فواضح

_

¹⁴ Sūrah al-Baqarah: 109.

As for the benefit to the envied person in religion (i.e., how the envied benefits from the envy of the envier):

He is considered oppressed by you—especially if your envy leads you to speak or act against him, such as through backbiting, slandering, or exposing his faults. These are like gifts you are sending him—meaning, you are transferring your good deeds to him, so that when you meet him on the Day of Judgment, you will be bankrupt, deprived of your rewards, just as you were deprived of blessings in this world. It is as if you wanted the removal of a blessing from him, yet his blessings were not removed—and Allah still had favour upon him. On the contrary, you were made a means for him to gain more good deeds, while you added misery upon misery to yourself.

As for the benefit to the envied person in this world:

One of the main desires of people is to see their enemies in pain, sorrow, and misery—to see them tormented and distressed. And there is no torment worse than what you are experiencing through the pain of envy. The greatest wish of your enemies is that they remain in blessing while you suffer in grief and regret because of them—and you have done to yourself exactly what they wish. This is why your enemy does not wish for your death, but rather hopes that your life is prolonged, so that you continue to suffer in the torment of envy, watching Allah's blessings upon him while your heart tears itself apart with jealousy.

And for this reason, it has been said:

May your enviers not die, but rather live on forever. So they can witness from you what fills their hearts with grief.

May you always be envied for the blessings you possess. For truly, only the complete and worthy are envied.

Your enemy takes more joy in your grief and envy than in his own blessings. If he knew that you had been freed from the pain and torment of envy, that would be the greatest calamity أما منفعته في الدين:

فهو أنه مظلوم من جهتك لاسيّما إذا أخرجك الحسد إلى القول والفعل بالغيبة والقدح فيه وهتك ستره، وذكر مساوئه. فهذه هدايا تحديها إليه أعنى: أنك بذلك تحدي إليه حسناتك حتى تلقاه يوم القيامة مفلسًا محرومًا عن النعمة كما حُرِمت في الدنيا عن النعمة. فكأنك أردت زوال النعمة عنه فلم تزل نِعَم، كان لله عليه نعمة. إذ وقَقك للحسنات فنقلتها إليه فأضفت إليه نعمةً إلى نعمةٍ وأضفت إلى نفسكَ شقاوةً إلى شقاوة.

وأما منفعته في الدنيا

إن أهم أغراض الخلق مساءة الأعداء، وغمهم، وشقاوتهم، وكوفهم معذبين مغمومين. ولا عذاب أشدً مما أنت فيه من ألم الحسد، وغاية أماني أعداءك أن يكونوا في نعمةٍ وأن تكون في غمّ وحسرةٍ بسببهم، وقد فعلت بنفسك ما هو مرادهم. ولذلك لا يشتهي عدوك موتك. بل يشتهي أن تطول حياتك ولكن في عذابِ الحسد؛ لتنظر إلى نعمة الله عليه فيتقطع قلبم حسدًا.

ولذلك قيل:

لا مات أعداؤك بل خُلّدوا حتى يرَوا فيك الذي يكمد

لا زلت محسودًا على نعمة فإنما الكامل من يحسد

ففرخ عدوّك بغمك وحسدك أعظم من فرحه بنعمته، ولو علم .خلاصك من ألم الحسد وعذابه لكان ذلك أعظم مصيبة وبلية عنده فما أنت فيما تلازمه من غم الحسد إلاكما يشتهيه عدوك. فإذا تأملت هذا عرفت أنك عدو نفسك وصديق عدوك إذ تعاطيت ما تضررت به في الدنيا والآخرة. وصرت مذمومًا عند الخالق والخلائق، شقيًا في الحال والمآل. ونعمة المحسود دائمةً شئت أم أبيت باقية. ثم لم تقتصر على تحصيل مراد عدوٍك حتى وصلت إلى إدخال أعظم سرور على إبليس الذي هو أعدى أعدائك؛ لأنه لما رآك محرومًا من نعمة العلم، والورع، والجاه والمال الذي اختص به عدوك عنك خاف أن تحب ذلك له فتشاركه في الثواب بسبب المحبة؛ لأنّ من أحب الخير للمسلمين كان شريكًا في الخير، ومن فاته اللحاق بدرجة

and misfortune to him. So, in your constant sorrow from envy, you are exactly as your enemy wishes you to be. If you reflect on this, you will realise that you have become an enemy to yourself and a friend to your enemy-for you have chosen a path that harms you in both this world and the next, while your enemy benefits from it in both realms. As a result, you are blameworthy before both the Creator and creation, and miserable in both your present state and your ultimate end. And the blessing of the one you envy-whether you like it or not—remains and endures. But you did not stop at fulfilling your enemy's wishes. You went even further, bringing the greatest joy to Iblīs, your fiercest and most dangerous enemy. When Iblīs saw you deprived of blessings whether in knowledge, piety, status, or wealth—blessings that your rival was granted, he feared that you might love those blessings for your rival, and thereby share in their reward. For whoever loves good for the believers becomes a partner in their reward, even if he cannot reach their status in this life. So Iblīs feared that you might love the goodness Allah bestowed upon His servantin his religion and his worldly life—and thus earn reward through your love. So he made you hate it, so that you would not join him in reward through love, just as you failed to join him in action.

A Bedouin once said to the Prophet **, "O Messenger of Allah, a man loves a people but has not reached their level (in deeds)?" The Prophet ** replied, "A person is with those whom he loves." And in another narration of the same hadith, "He is with those whom he loves." ¹⁵

From the hadith of Ibn Mas'ūd wherein a bedouin stood up while the Messenger of Allah was delivering a sermon and said, "O Messenger of Allah, when is the Hour (the Day of Judgment)?" The Prophet replied, "What have you prepared for it?" He said, "I haven't prepared much in the way of prayer or fasting, but I love Allah and His Messenger." The

الأكابر في الدنيا لم يفته ثواب الحب لهم مهما أحب ذلك. فخاف إبليس أن تحبّ ما أنعم الله به على عبده من صلاح دينه ودنياه فتفوز بثواب الحب. فبغضه إليك حتى لا تلحقه بحبك كما لم تلحقه بعملك

وقد قال أعربي للنبي صلى الله عليه وسلم: يا رسول الله الرجل يحب القوم ولما يلحق بهم؟ فقال النبي صلى الله عليه وسلم: المرء مع من أحب، حديث الرجل يحب القوم ولما يلحق بمم فقال: هو مع من أحب.

من حديث ابن مسعود وقام أعرابي إلى رسول الله صلى الله عليه وسلم وهو يخطب فقال: يا رسول الله متى الساعة فقال ما أعددت لها من كثير صلاة ولا صيام إلا أني أحب الله ورسوله فقال صلى الله عليه وسلم: أنت مع من أحببت.

حديث سؤال الأعرابي: متى الساعة؟ فقال: ما أعددت لها الحديث

¹⁵ Bukhārī & Muslim.

Prophet said, "You are with those whom you love." 16

From the hadith of Anas (may Allah be pleased with him), he said, "The Muslims never rejoiced after embracing Islam with anything greater than their joy on that day,"-referring to the moment when they heard the Prophet's response. This indicates that their greatest desire was the love of Allah and His Messenger. Anas also said, "We love the Messenger of Allah #, and Abu Bakr, and 'Umar, even though we do not perform deeds like theirs, yet we hope to be with them." And Abū Mūsā (may Allah be pleased with him) said, "I said, O Messenger of Allah, a man loves those who pray, yet he does not pray; he loves those who fast, yet he does not fast" and he mentioned other acts as well. The Prophet replied, "He is with those whom he loves."

From a hadith in a shorter version, "A man loves a people but has not reached their level?" The Prophet # replied, "A person is with those whom he loves." And a man once said to 'Umar ibn 'Abd al-'Azīz, "It used to be said: If you can be a scholar, then be a scholar. If you cannot be a scholar, then be a student. If you cannot be a student, then love them. And if you cannot do that—at least, do not hate them." He responded, "Glory be to Allah, who has made for us a way out!" Now look at how Iblīs envied you and caused you to lose the reward of love—and not only that, he did not stop until he made you hate your brother, and pushed you toward resentment until you fell into sin. How could it be otherwise, when you might envy a person of knowledge and even wish for him to err in the religion of Allah, hoping that his mistake would be exposed so he would be humiliated? You may wish for his tongue to fall silent so he can no longer speak, or for him to fall ill so he can no longer teach or learn. What greater sin could there be than this? If only, when you failed to reach his level and felt sorrow over it, you had at least been spared from sin and the punishment of the Hereafter.

من حديث أنس قال أنس فما فرح المسلمون بعد إسلامهم كفرحهم يومئذ إشارة إلى أن أكبر بغيتهم كانت حب الله ورسوله، قال أنس فنحن نحب رسول الله وأبا بكر وعمر ولا نعمل مثل عملهم ونرجو أن نكون معهم، وقال أبو موسى قلت يا رسول الله الرجل يحب المصلين ولا يصلي ويحب الصوام ولا يصوم حتى عد أشياء فقال النبي صلى الله عليه وسلم هو مع من أحب.

من حديث بلفظ آخر مختصرًا الرجل يحب القوم ولما يلحق بهم؟ قال المرء مع من أحب، وقال رجل لعمر بن عبد العزيز: إنه كان يقال: إن استطعت أن تكون عالما فكن عالما، فإن لم تستطع أن تكون عالما فكن متعلمًا، فإن لم تستطع أن تكون متعلمًا فأحبهم فإن لم تستطع فلا تبغضهم فقال سبحان الله الذي جعل الله لنا مخرجا فانظر الآن كيف حسدك إبليس ففوت عليك ثواب الحب ثم لم يقنع به حتى بغض إليك أخاك وحملك على الكراهة حتى أثمت وكيف لا وعساك تحاسد رجلاً من أهل العلم وتحب أن يخطيء في دين الله تعالى، وينكشف خطؤه ليفتضح وتحب أن يخرس لسانه حتى لا يتكلم أو يمرض حتى لا يعلم ولا يتعلم وأي إثم يزيد على ذلك فليتك إذ فاتك اللحاق به ثم اغتممت . بسببه سلمت من الإثم وعذاب الآخرة.

¹⁶ Bukhārī & Muslim.

وقد جاء في الحديث عنه عليه الصلاة والسلام: أهل الجنة ثلاثة المحسن والمحب له والكاف عنه.

حديث: أهل الجنة ثلاثة: المحسن والمحب له والكاف عنه لم أجد له أصلاً أي من يكف عن الأذى والحسد والبغض والكراهة.

فانظر كيف أبعدك إبليس عن جميع المداخل الثلاثة حتى لا تكون من أهل واحد منها ألبته. فقد نفذ فيك حسد إبليس وما نفذ حسدك في عدوك بل على نفسك بل لو كوشفت بحالك في يقظة أو منام لرأيت نفسك أيها الحاسد في صورة من يرمى سهمًا إلى عدوّه ليصيب مقتله فلا يصيبه بل يرجع إلى حدقته اليمني فيقلعها فيزيد غضبه. فيعود ثانية .فيرمى أشد من الأولى فيرجع إلى عينه الأخرى فيعميها فيزداد غيظه فيعود على رأسه فيشجه وعدوه سالم في كل حال. وهو إليه راجع مرة بعد أخرى وأعداؤه حوله يفرحون به، ويضحكون عليه وهذا حال الحسود وسخرية الشيطان منه بل حالك في الحسد أقبح من هذا؛ لأن الرمية العائدة لم تفوت إلا العينين ولو بقيتا لفاتتا بالموت لا محالة والحسد يعود بالإثم والإثم لا يفوت بالموت ولعله يسوقه إلى غضب الله وإلى النار. فلأن تذهب عينه في الدنيا خير له من أن تبقى له عين يدخل بما النار فيقلعها لهيب النار. فانظر كيف انتقم الله من الحاسد إذا أراد زوال النعمة عن المحسود فلم يزلها عنه ثم أزالها عن الحاسد. إذ السلامة من الإثم نعمة، والسلامة من الغم والكمد نعمة، قد زالتا عنه تصديقًا لقوله تعالى: "وَلا يَجِيق المِكرُ السَّيَّء إلا بأَهلِه. " وربما يبتلى بعين ما يشتهيه لعدوه وقلما يشمت شامت بمساءةٍ إلا ويبتلى بمثلِها حتى قالت عائشة رضى الله عنهاما تمنيت لعثمان شيئًا إلا نزل بي حتى لو تمنيت له القتل لقتلت، فهذا إثم الحسد نفسه، فكيف ما يجر إليه الحسد من الاختلاف وجحود الحق وإطلاق اللسان، واليد بالفواحش، في التشفى من الأعداء وهو الداء الذي فيه هلك الأمم السالفة فهذه هي الأدوية العلمية فمهما تفكر الإنسان فيها بذهن صاف وقلب حاضر انطفأت نار الحسد من قلبه. وعلم أنه مُهلك نفسه ومُفرحٌ عدوَّه ومسخط ربه ومنغص عيشه. وأما العمل النافع فيه فهو أن يحكم الحسد فكل ما يتقاضاه الحسد من قول وفعل فينبغى أن يكلِّف نفسَه نقيضَه، فإن حمله الحسد على القدح في محسوده كلف لسانه المدح له والثناء عليه، وإن حمله على التكبُّر عليه ألزم نفسه التواضع له والاعتذار إليه، وإن بعثه على كف الإنعام عليه ألزم نفسه الزيادة في الإنعام عليه.

It is reported in a hadith from the Prophet , "The people of Paradise are three: the doer of good, the one who loves him, and the one who refrains from harming him." This hadith, however, I did not find an authentic source for it.

The phrase "the one who refrains" refers to the person who refrains from causing harm, envy, hatred, or resentment toward the doer of good.

So observe how Iblīs distanced you from all three paths to Paradise—so that you are not counted among any of those people at all. The envy of Iblīs has taken full effect upon you, while your own envy has had no effect on your enemy—rather, it has turned against yourself. If your reality were exposed to you—whether in wakefulness or in a dream—you, O envier, would see yourself like a man firing arrows at his enemy, hoping to strike him fatally, yet the arrow misses and returns to strike your own right eye, blinding it and increasing your rage. So you shoot again, with even more intensity, and it strikes your other eye, blinding you completely and intensifying your fury. Then the arrow returns to strike your head and wound it—while your enemy remains unharmed, and your arrows keep coming back to hurt only you, while your enemies surround you, laughing and rejoicing. This is the state of the envier and the mockery of the devil toward him. In fact, your state is even worse, because the returning arrow only cost you your eyes eyes that would have eventually been lost to death anyway. But envy leads to sin, and sin does not end with death. On the contrary, it may drive you to Allah's wrath and the Hellfire. Losing your eyesight in this world would be far better than entering Hell with those same eyes, only for the flames to burn them away. See how Allah punishes the envier—when he seeks to remove a blessing from the envied, the blessing remains, but the envier loses his own. For being free of sin is a blessing, and being free of sorrow and grief is a blessing—both of which are taken away from the envier—as confirmation of Allah's words, "But evil

plotting only engulfs those who do it." ¹⁷ And it may be that Allah afflicts the envier with the very thing he wished upon his enemy. Rarely does someone rejoice in another's misfortune eventually being tested something similar. 'Ā'ishah (may Allah be pleased with her) once said, "I never wished anything upon 'Uthman except that I was tested with the same. Even if I had wished for his death, I might have been killed." This is just the sin of envy itself—so what then of what envy leads to: disputes, denial of the truth, slander, physical and verbal abuse, and the pursuit of vengeance against enemies? It is a disease that destroyed past nations. These are the intellectual remedies. If a person reflects on them with a clear mind and a present heart, the fire of envy will be extinguished within them. They will realise that they are destroying themselves, pleasing their enemy, incurring the wrath of their Lord, and poisoning their own life. As for the practical treatment, it is to go against what envy demands. If envy pushes you to speak ill of the envied, force your tongue to praise them and speak well of them. If envy leads you to act arrogantly toward them, compel yourself to be humble and apologise. If envy urges you to withhold kindness, make yourself increase your generosity toward them. This is how you train the soul and cure the heart.

Whenever a person does this—even if at first it is forced—and the one envied becomes aware of it, his heart softens, and he begins to love the envier. And as soon as love from the envied appears, the envier in turn begins to love him, and this mutual affection gives rise to harmony, which cuts off the root of envy altogether. For humility, praise, kind words, and showing joy over someone's blessings attract the heart of the one who receives them, captivate it, win it over, and move it to respond with kindness. That kindness then returns to the first person, softening his heart as well. In time, what was once done with effort and difficulty becomes natural and genuine. And he should not be deterred from this by the whisper of the devil who tells him otherwise.

مهما فعل ذلك عن تكلُّف وعرفه المحسود طاب قلبه وأحبه ومهما ظهر حبّه عاد الحاسد فأحبه وتولد من ذلك الموافقه التي تقطع مادة الحسد؛ لأن التواضع والثناء والمدح وإظهار السرور بالنعمة يستجلب قلب المنعم عليه ويسترقه ويستعطفه ويحمله على مقابلة ذلك بالإحسان ثم ذلك الإحسان يعود إلى الأول فيطيب قلبه ويصير ما تكلفه أولاً طبعًا آخرًا ولا يصدَّنه عن ذلك قول الشيطان له.

¹⁷ Sūrah al-Fātir: 43.

If you were to humble yourself and praise the one you envy, the devil would whisper to you that your enemy will think it's a sign of weakness, or hypocrisy, or fear—that it is a form of humiliation and disgrace. But that is nothing more than the devil's deception and trickery. In reality, courtesy and kindness, whether done sincerely or with effort, break the intensity of hostility from both sides. It diminishes what the other desires (victory, superiority), and gradually teaches the hearts to reconcile and love. By doing so, the heart is freed from the pain of envy and the grief of hatred. These are the remedies for envy, and they are very effective—but they are also bitter upon the heart. Yet, healing lies in bitter medicine. Whoever cannot endure bitterness of the cure will never taste the sweetness of recovery. What makes bitterness of this cure—humbling oneself before one's enemies, and approaching them with praise and goodwill—more bearable is:

- Strong knowledge of the realities we've mentioned.
- A deep desire for the reward that comes from being content with Allah's decree.
- A noble soul that rises above the foolishness of demanding that the world conform to its desires.

For insisting that everything match one's personal will is ignorance, since what one desires will not always come to pass. And when what is desired is missed, it results in humiliation and misery. The only way to escape this kind of humiliation is through one of two paths: either you can make what you want come to be, or you can want what already is. ¹⁸

لو تواضعت وأثنيت عليه حملك العدو على العجز أو على النفاق أو الخوف وأن ذلك مذلة ومهانة؛ وذلك من خداع الشيطان ومكايده بل المجاملة تكلفًا كانت أو طبعا تكسر سورة العداوة من الجانبين وتقل مرغوبها وتعود القلوب التآلف والتحاب وبذلك تستريح القلوب من ألم الحسد وغم التباغض فهذه هي أدوية الحسد وهي نافعة جدًا إلا أنها مرة على القلوب جدًا. ولكن النفع في الدواء المر. فمن لم يصبر على مرازة الدواء لم ينل حلاوة الشفاء، وإنما تمون مرازة هذا الدواء أعني التواضع للأعداء، والتقرب إليهم بالمدح والثناء بقوة العلم بالمعاني التي ذكرناها، وقوة الرغبة في ثواب الرضا بقضاء الله تعالى وحب ما أحبه وعزة النفس وترقعها عن أن يكون في العالم شيء على خلاف مرادها جهل، وعند ذلك يريد ما لا يكون إذ لا مطمع في أن يكون ما يريد وفوات المراد ذلّ وخسة ولا طريق إلى الخلاص من هذا الذلّ إلا بأحد أمرين. إما بأن يكون ما تريد أم بأن تريد ما يكون.

الأول: ليس إليك، ولا مدخل للتكلف والمجاهدة فيه.

وأما الثاني: فللمجاهدة فيه مدخل وتحصيله بالرياضة ممكن، فيجب ، تحصيله على كل عاقل، هذا هو الدواء الكلي. فأما الدواء المفصل فهو تتبع أسباب الحسد: من الكبر، وعزَّة النفس وشدة الحرص على ما لا يغني وغيره، وسيأتي تفصيل مداواة هذه الأسباب في مواضعها إن شاء الله تعالى فإنها مواد هذا المرض ولا ينقمع المرض إلا بقمع المادة فإن لم تقمع المادة لم يحصل بما ذكرناه إلا تسكين وتطفئة ولا يزال يعود مرة بعد أخرى ويطول الجهد في تسكينه مع بقاء موادّه فإنه ما دام محبًا للجاهِ فلابدً وأن يحسد من استأثر بالجاه والمنزلة في قلوب الناس دونه ويغمه ذلك لا محالة. وإنما غايته أن يهون الغم على نفسه ولا يظهر بلسانه . ويده فأما الخلو عنه رأسًا فلا يمكنه والله الموفق.

-

¹⁸ Maw'izah al-Mu'minīn min Ihyā' 'Ulūm al-Dīn by Shaykh Muhammad Jamāl al-Dīn al-Qāsimī.